RECEIVED

Aug 16 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER JAMEL BRISBON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000478

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN R. STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in sentencing Appellant to consecutive terms of imprisonment based upon his mistaken belief that his discretion was restricted in such a way that he was required to order consecutive sentences where neither statute nor case law restricted the judge's discretion in sentencing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County jury indicted Appellant for murder, burglary in the second degree, criminal conspiracy, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Supp. R. 1, l. 21 – Supp. R. 2, l. 6; R. 665-670. After the state presented its case-in-chief, the trial judge granted a directed verdict of acquittal regarding the criminal conspiracy charge. R. 589, ll. 2-6; R. 590, ll. 7-12. The trial judge found the state failed to produce “substantial circumstantial evidence ... that reasonably tend[ed] to prove he’s guilty of conspiracy.” R. 590, ll. 7-12. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 645, l. 19 – R. 646, l. 3. The judge then sentenced Appellant to forty years for murder, fifteen years for burglary, and to five years for the weapon. R. 661, ll. 12-20; R. 671-676. He ordered the sentences for murder and burglary to be served concurrently, but he ordered the sentence for the weapon to be served consecutively to the sentence for murder. R. 661.

On March 3, 2022, Appellant moved for a new trial. R. 662. By an order dated April 8, 2022, the trial judge denied the motion. R. 663-664.¹ On April 11, 2022, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

¹ There are two identical copies of the order denying the motion for new trial (both are captioned order denying motion to reconsider) within the Clerk of Court’s file. One was clocked on April 8, 2022, and one was clocked on April 12, 2022. R. 663-664.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to consecutive terms of imprisonment based upon his mistaken belief that his discretion was restricted in such a way that he was required to order consecutive sentences where neither statute nor case law restricted the judge's discretion in sentencing.

Relevant facts

When the jury returned with its verdicts, the judge moved into the sentencing portion of the trial. The judge stated that it was his understanding that “weapons charge requires a consecutive five years.” R. 660, ll. 22-24. Defense counsel responded, “I never thought it would be, but let’s just make ---.” R. 660, l. 25 – R. 661, l. 1. The judge reiterated his belief that he was required to order consecutive sentencing for a possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime offense. R. 661, l. 2. Thereafter, the judge sentenced Appellant to forty years imprisonment for murder. R. 661, ll. 12-15; R. 671-672. He then sentenced Appellant to five years imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 661, ll. 16-18; R. 675. The judge ordered this five-year sentence to be served consecutively to the forty-year sentence for murder. R. 661, ll. 16-17; R. 675-676.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in determining that he was required to sentence Appellant to a term of years to be served *consecutively* to the sentence for the principal crime. Pursuant to statute, a person who was in possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime and is convicted of a violent crime “must be imprisoned five years, in addition to the punishment for the principal crime.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A). Further, the statute provides that “[t]he court may impose this

mandatory five-year sentence to run consecutively or concurrently.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(B).

Certainly, “[j]udicial discretion in sentencing, in suspending sentences, and in designating that sentences run concurrent or consecutive is subject to statutory restriction.” State v. De La Cruz, 302 S.C. 13, 15, 393 S.E.2d 184, 186 (1990); see also Major v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services, 384 S.C. 457, 465-466, 682 S.E.2d 795, 799-800 (2009). However, the legislature created no restriction on a sentencing judge’s ability to order a sentence for violation of section 16-23-490(A) to run consecutively or concurrently. This is clear from the text of section 16-23-490(B). See Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (providing that “[w]hat a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature”); In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 235, 509 S.E.2d 261, 262 (1998) (explaining that under the plain meaning rule, the court should not alter the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute); Paschal v. State Election Comm’n, 317 S.C. 434, 454 S.E.2d 890 (1995) (holding that where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, conveying a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court should not impose another meaning); State v. Myers, 313 S.C. 391, 393, 438 S.E.2d 236, 237 (1993) (explaining the rules of statutory construction, courts must strictly construe the criminal statutes against the state); Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 5, 437 S.E.2d 6, 8 (1993) (noting the cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature).

Further, the South Carolina Supreme Court made clear that judges retain this discretionary power as it pertains to this charge through case law. See Major, 384 S.C. at 466, 682 S.E.2d 795,

799 (stating a sentencing court has the ability to order whether a sentence is consecutive or concurrent and citing section 16-23-490(B)).

The judge clearly believed his sentencing discretion was restricted in such a way as to require him to order consecutive sentencing. However, a review of the clear and unambiguous language of the statute coupled with controlling case law on the subject reveal no restrictions on the judge's ability to order the sentences to be served consecutively or concurrently. As such, the judge erred in sentencing Appellant to a consecutive term of five years where the sentencing structure was based upon the judge's mistake of law.

To the extent the state attempts to argue that this error is not preserved, Appellant respectfully disagrees. Defense counsel informed the judge that it was *not* his understanding that consecutive sentences were required. R. 660, l. 25 – R. 661, l. 1. Appellant acknowledges there was no explicit objection to the sentence at the time of imposition. However, counsel was not required to use the exact words of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the error for appellate review. See State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595 (2010) (“Error preservation rules do not require a party to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve an issue for appellate review.”).

If this Court determines that defense counsel's statement opposing the judge's belief regarding consecutively sentencing did not preserve the error for review, Appellant respectfully requests this Court address the issue presented in the interest of judicial economy.² See State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 567, 735 S.E.2d 525, 528 (Ct. App. 2012). Based upon the clear statutory language and the abundance of

² If the case were affirmed on procedural basis, defense counsel could not articulate any strategic reason for failing to object at a post-conviction relief proceeding, State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) and the prejudice is manifest.

case law on the matter presented, the judge based his sentencing structure on a mistake of law. Thus, judicial economy weighs heavily in favor of this Court addressing the merits of the claim at this time. Appellant respectfully requests this Court address the merits of the issue and vacate his sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and remand for re-sentencing.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court vacate his sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and remand for new sentencing.

A handwritten signature in blue ink, appearing to read "Breen R. Stevens", with a long horizontal flourish extending to the right.

Breen R. Stevens
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT