RECEIVED

Jul 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER JAMEL BRISBON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000478

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

S.R. HUBBARD III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 E. Main St.
Lexington South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 22-28, 2022, Appellant, Christopher Brisbon, stood trial on the charges of murder, burglary second degree, criminal conspiracy, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The Honorable Eugene Griffith, Jr., presided. David Mauldin, Esq., and Robert Madsen, Esq., represented Petitioner on the charges. Deputy Solicitor Suzanne Mayes and Senior Assistant Solicitor Rhonda Patterson represented the State. At the conclusion of the State's case, Judge Griffith directed a verdict on the criminal conspiracy charge. (Tr. p. 793-95).¹ The jury convicted Appellant of murder, burglary second, and the weapon charge. (Tr. pp. 859-60). Judge Griffith sentenced him to 40 years imprisonment for murder; 5, consecutive, on the weapon charge; and 15, concurrent for burglary second. (Tr. 877). Judge Griffith denied the defense's motion for a new trial by order dated April 8, 2022. (R. p. *).

This appeal follows.

¹ The judge did, however, instruct the jury on "hand of one is the hand of all," (Tr. p. 848), given the testimony presented at trial that two individuals participated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges stemmed from the December 17, 2017 murder of Rodney T. Leak at his nightclub in Lexington County. According to witnesses, two masked men entered the office area of the nightclub and viciously gunned down Mr. Leak. (Tr. pp. 254-57; 392-94; 496-99). One of the men described generally matched Appellant's physical appearance and particularly his hairstyle. (Tr. pp. 402-404; 497; 781). Critically, a .40 caliber Smith & Wesson clip/magazine was recovered from the murder scene with Appellant's fingerprint, and the major portion of a DNA sample from the magazine was given a "likelihood ratio for the probability of the DNA being that of Christopher Brisbon" as "240 million times more likely" to be his with "two unidentified, unrelated individuals ... than if three unidentified, unrelated individuals" contributed. (Tr. pp. 188-89; 471-72; 526; 703). Cellphone data recovered from Appellant's phone identified the phone near the crime scene near the time of the murder. (Tr. p. 767-70).

Further, Appellant was in jail with an individual, Larry Myers, who had been friends with Appellant's sister, and had met Appellant before. Myers was facing federal charges and was being housed in the Lexington County Detention Center. Appellant told Myers that he was charged with murder and explained that he and a guy named "T" had gone to a nightclub to "rob a guy." Appellant admitted he had a .40 caliber weapon, and told his friend: "They got to shooting in the club. The guy in the club had a gun. They shot from the side door. He ran back out, him and the guy T guy. As he was running back to the car, he told me that the clip in the gun he had, the .40 caliber fell out." (Tr. pp. 656-62).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). “ ‘A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law....’ ” *State v. Jacobs*, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011) (quoting *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 541 (2010)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based upon an error of law, such as application of the wrong legal principle; or, when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support; or, when the trial court is vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case, such that it may be deemed arbitrary and capricious.” *State v. Allen*, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 656 (2006)

ARGUMENT

Any issue with Appellant’s five-year consecutive sentence for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not object to the sentence.

Appellant contends the “judge erred in determining that he was required to sentence Appellant to a term of years to be served *consecutively* to the sentence for the principal crime.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 4). Appellant, however, concedes “there was no explicit objection to the sentence at the time of imposition.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 6). Further, Appellant concedes that the trial judge had discretion to run the 5-year sentence either consecutively or concurrently. (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 4-6). Together, these concessions show that no objection was made to preserve an issue on appeal and the sentence was not illegal so an exception to the preservation rules is not prompted or supported. Thus, the issue presented is procedurally barred from review.

Relevant Facts:

At sentencing, Judge Griffith inquired as to defense counsel’s understanding whether “the weapons charge requires a consecutive five years...” (Tr. p. 876, lines 21-23). Defense counsel responded, “I never thought it would be let’s just make —” at which time the judge added that he “thought that was a requirement.” (Tr. 876, line 25- 877, line 2). Defense counsel offered that the sentence was “day-for-day,” and the solicitor agreed. (Tr. p. 877, lines 3-5). The court reporter then notes in the transcript that there was a “Pause” in the sentencing proceedings. (Tr. p. 877, line 6). The transcript next reflects:

THE COURT: All right. I’ve signed the sentencing sheets and orders. Obviously the lead indictment, the most severe charge is the murder charge. Burglary is secondary to that. And then the weapon’s charge is secondary to that as well.

On indictment 1604, which is the murder charge, the sentence of the Court is that Mr. Brisbon be confined to the Department of Corrections for a determinate term of 40 years.

On the weapon's charge, five years. And that's consecutive to the 40. He gets credit on both of those for 1531 days.

On the burglary it's 15 years. That's concurrent.

(Tr. p. 877, lines 7-20).

The sentencing sheet reflects that Judge Griffith struck through "concurrent" and indicated consecutive for the 5-year sentence. (R. * [sentencing sheet]).

On March 4, 2022, defense counsel filed a post-trial motion. (R. *). Defense counsel first noted the convictions and the sentences – including the "5 year consecutive" sentence "on the weapon charge." (R. p. *). Defense counsel then moved for a new trial based on "all prior motions and objections made during trial" and an "assertion that a reasonable trier of fact would not find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt...." (R. p. *). There was no mention of a potential error regarding the consecutive 5-year sentence, nor did the defense seek reconsideration of the sentence.

Discussion:

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge." *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). *See also State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 583, 611 S.E.2d 273, 281 (Ct. App. 2005) ("Our courts have 'consistently refused to apply the plain error rule.'") (quoting *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997)). Consequently, in most circumstances, "a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review." *State v. Johnston*, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999).

An exception to the general preservation rule exists to allow swift address of a sentencing issue where "there is the real threat that Defendant will remain incarcerated beyond the legal

sentence due to the additional time it will take to pursue” post-conviction relief. *Johnston*, 333 S.C. at 464, 510 S.E.2d at 425. Further, if an illegal sentence is imposed, and the state concedes the sentence in question is actually illegal, then an “appellate court may correct that sentence on direct appeal or remand the issue to the trial court even if the defendant did not object to the sentence at trial and even if there is no real threat of incarceration beyond the limits of a legal sentence.” *State v. Plumer*, 439 S.C. 346, 351, 887 S.E.2d 134, 137 (2023). An illegal sentence, in such context, is “a sentence in excess of that permitted by law, even if there is no real threat of incarceration beyond the legal sentence.” *Id.*, at 350, 887 S.E.2d at 137 n. 1.

Here, Appellant did not object to a perceived misunderstanding on whether the 5-year sentence had to be consecutive, but the sentence was not illegal – the statute would allow for the sentence to be imposed.

a. *The Statutory Provision*

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 provides for a 5-year sentence “in addition to the punishment provided for the principal [violent] crime,” when “a person” has been convicted of being “in possession of a firearm ... during the commission of [that] violent crime....” Section (A) prohibits imposition of the sentence “where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime.” Section (B) provides, where that is not the case, that “[s]ervice of the five-year sentence is mandatory unless a longer mandatory minimum term of imprisonment is provided by law for the violent crime,” and that “[t]he court may impose this mandatory five-year sentence to run consecutively or concurrently.”

b. *The Sentence Imposed is Not Illegal and No Exception is Available to Excuse the Failure to Object.*

Petitioner was not sentenced to death or life without parole; thus, Section (A) does not prohibit a sentence. As such, the sentence imposed is not illegal because it is not “in excess of

law.” See *Plumer*, at 350, 887 S.E.2d at 137 n. 1. Therefore, based on our issue preservation rules, Appellant was required to object, and failing to do so bars review on appeal. *State v. Shumate*, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) (“A defendant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes him from presenting his objection for the first time on appeal.”).

Further, the record is not clear that Judge Griffith’s initial belief that the term was required to be consecutive – which was stated on the record – was not corrected. Indeed, defense counsel expressed he did not believe that to be the case (*i.e.*, a required consecutive term); there is a noted pause in the proceedings; there is no objection at sentencing even after the judge’s question; the sentencing sheet shows a strike through in concurrent; and, notably, there was not a motion to reconsider the sentence. At best, it is unclear what happened after the comment, if anything, but it is clear that the specter of an incorrect understanding was known, and some objection could have been made if counsel believed that it was not corrected.

Relying upon and applying a procedural bar in these circumstances actually underscores and preserves two primary goals for the court’s preservation requirements – to allow the trial judge the fair opportunity to consider the matter in the first instance, and to better develop the record for an appellate court’s review. *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.”) (quoting *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct.App.2006)). The bar should be applied.

Even while acknowledging the lack of objection, Appellant nonetheless suggests “judicial economy” should allow the appellate court to reach the matter rather than waiting for further development in post-conviction relief, (*see* Appellant’s Brief, p. 6), that misapprehends the actual purported error at hand, and the need for factual development.

As noted above, the sentence is not illegal. Therefore, unlike *Plumer*, there is not a “fix it now, or fix it later” concept at issue. Of note on this point is the observation in *Plumer* that “it is inefficient and a waste of judicial resources *to delay the inevitable* by requiring the appellant to file a post-conviction relief action or petition for a writ of habeas corpus.” 439 S.C. at 351, 887 S.E.2d at 137 (emphasis added). Here, upon additional information, it could be determined that there is no abuse of discretion at all, and the sentence could be affirmed as imposed because the judge did, in fact, exercise his discretion. Moreover, vastly different from *Plumer*, if vacated and remanded, the same sentence could still be imposed as nothing prevents the imposition of either a concurrent or consecutive sentence. The “inevitable” result referenced in *Plumer* does not exist here.

Appellant relies upon *State v. Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 2009), and *State v. Bonner*, 400 S.C. 561 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct.App. 2012) to support its argument for dispensing with the preservation rules. (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 6-7). However, those cases, like *Plumer* refer to circumstances where the imposition of a sentence is not possible. *Vick*, 384 S.C. at 202, 682 S.E.2d at 282 (kidnapping sentence not possible under “§ 16–3–910 because the defendant received a concurrent sentence under the murder statute”); *Bonner*, 400 S.C. at 565, 735 S.E.2d at 527 (juvenile sentencing issue, LWOP sentence for non-homicide conviction). Notably, in support of judicial economy, the *Vick* panel cited two cases: *S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Hamm*, 306 S.C. 70, 75, 409 S.E.2d 775, 778 (1991) and *Jeter v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 369

S.C. 433, 441 n. 6, 633 S.E.2d 143, 147 n. 6 (2006). Both of those cases are civil cases, and do not contemplate an option for post-conviction relief. Here, in a criminal appeal context where post-conviction relief is available for issues not preserved for direct appeal review, appellant should not be excused from adherence to the general preservation rules. Should appellate courts routinely cite judicial economy to address unpreserved errors, the exception becomes the rule, and that would undermine the scope and purpose of the Post-Conviction Relief Act, see S.C. Code §§ 17-27-10 et.seq., and our state supreme court's rejection of the clear error rule. Appellant's argument should be rejected.

But if not rejected for the reasons argued above, the Court should consider what type of remand would best serve the concept of judicial economy. Appellant asserts that the sentence should be vacated, and the matter remanded for resentencing. (Appellant's Brief, p. 7). But to reach that conclusion, Appellant must assume error because whether "the judge based his sentencing structure on a mistake of law" is not clear. (*See* Appellant's Brief, p. 7). A more prudent course would be a limited remand to Judge Griffith to clarify whether there was a mistake of law or an intentional exercise of known discretion. Anything else would relieve Appellant of the duty of showing an actual error of law.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should find the issue raised is procedurally barred and affirm on appeal. Alternatively, should a remand be ordered, this Court should limit such remand and direct the remand be for the limited purpose of determining whether discretion was actually exercised.